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WOUNDED KWAH
THE FINAL SUBJUGATION OF THEX SIQUX

¥rom the time of the arrival of the earliest Europeans
on the shores of North America, the Indian exerted a tremen-
dous imvact unon the settlement of the American frontier,
dventually he was no longer able to resist the encroachment
of the white man, With the culmination of the Battle of
Wounded ¥nee, the armed conflict between the white inter=-
lopers and the indipenous red man terminated. Wounded Knee
was the end of a conflict that had been sporadiecally fought
for over three centuries. .

Called by some the lassacre of Wounded Knee, the Battle
of Wounded Knee was the last major conflict between the
United States Army and the American Indian., It took vlace
in a remote portion of southwestern South Dalzota between
two forces wno had fought each other intermittently over
a pericd of 25 years, the U, S, Seventh Cavalry and the
Sioux Indians, Accounts of the babttle and the events sur-
rounding 1t are conilicting and have often been emotionally
presented. HMany theories have been advanced to explain the
ceuges and regults of the battle. Robert 1, Utley in his

excellent treatment of the subject, The Last Days of the

Sioux Hation, calls the battle a "regrettabls tragic ac-

——

cident."! Others have attempted to seck a culprit by
blaming a nation who thought fthe only good Indian was a

dend Indian; or a government which starved the Indian and



made treatieslonly to brealk them to the benefit of a select
few; or to the Sioux to whom, 1In the belief of many, fighting
and kiiling was a way of life; or the U. S, Seventh Cavalry
who exacted revenge for its defeat at the Little Big Horn:
or to the leaders of the Kessiah Craze such ag Sitting Bull
(Tatanka Yotanka), who readily exrloited the unrest to.
restore their lost prestige; or to the reduction in the
sjize of the reservations and cutting down on the amount of
rations issued., There is an element of truth in each of
these theories, Many factors influenced the actions of the
troopers of the Seventh Cavalry and the members of Chief
Big Foot's band of Sioux Indians.

The confrontatlion has been attributed to lack of lead=-
ership on the part of both Indian chiefs and U, S, cavalry
officers. Chief Big Foot (Si-Tanka) has bsen classed as
an inept leader with doubtful influence over the rmore mili-
tant members of his band, The U, S, Army officers and non-
cormmigsioned officers on the scene have been portrayed as
lecking in exporience, positive leadershiln =nd common sense
in allowing thelr units to come in such close contact with
the Indians and in their abortive attempt to disarm the mem-
bers of Big Foot's band. It was an explosive situation that
was to result in a massacre.

Many armed and belligerént Indian braves died on Wounded
Knee Creek. [Fany more innocent women and ch!lldren were also

slain, Althourh reports vary on the number killed, Major



Oensral Nelson A, liiles, Commander of the Department of
l'issouri, In his aﬁnual report to the Secretary of Var re-
ported that two hundred Indians (men, women and children)
were killed or mortally wounded.Z The Indian victima of
ounded Knee were buried in a comron orave at the site of
the battle on 1 January 1891. Belief in the lessiah and
the Ghost Shirts had not vrotected the Sioux at Wounded
Knee.

The Sioux believed thef throurh the medium of the
Ghost Dance they could rid themselves of the white man.
- They soucht return to the life where they agailn were free
to roam and where the buffalo, thelr life source, again
darkened the plains. .Return to such a life however was
not to be, As inscribed on the monument erected to those
who lost thelr lives during the massacre, not only did
many innocent women and children die thet day on ¥Woundad
Knee Creek, but more significant so did the Sioux nation,>

By late 1881, the seven bands of the Teton Sioux had
been settled on the Great Sioux Ressrvation in what is now
soutawestern South Dakota, east of the Black Hi1lls and west
of the Missouri River. During the summer of 1881, Sitting
Bull had led sore 2,000 Sioux Indisans bzck from Canada where
they had fled following the fighting of 1876 and 1877. Sit-
ting Bull settled his band, the Hunkpapa Sioux, in the
northern part of the Reservation at Standing Rock Agency.

Chief Red Cloud's Oglala Sioux were located in the southern



portion of the reservation, near the Nebraska border. The
Brule Sioux were located at Rosebud Agency while the re-
mainder of the bands, including Chief Big oot and the
Minicon jous were positioned at Cheyenne Hiver Agzency., The
Great Sioux Reservation was to be the common propsrty of
the seven bands of the Teton Sioux and at the end of 1881
close to 16,000 of them occupied the reservation lends W

The year 1881 brought about dramatic changes to the
Tetons way of 1life. No longer could they roam the prairie
ag they desired., Buffalo were virtually extinct so they
could not hunt. DNo longer could the warrior Sloux go to
war, It was the intent of the Great Father to "civilize"
them ond make them Into God=fearing tillers of the soil in
the llkeness of the white settlers in the area east of the
Mississippi.

The Indians had lived in peace on the reservation for
nearly twelve years when the severe drought of 1889 came
af'ter two dry years bringing poor crops and poor nastures.
The Sioux had attempted agriculture and the raising of live-
stock with limited success, The severe South Dakota winters
plus the recent lack of moisture discouraged not only the
Siovx but also many of the settlers., The vear 18089 also
brovght the blackleg disease to the small Indian herds and
many of their cattle died.5 To cowpound matters, measles,
grippe and whooping cough sweprt through the Indian canps,

6

depleting the ranks of the Silcux,



The Sioux Cormission, led by Fajor General George Crook,
visited the reservation in 1889, The cormission departed
with the necessary signatures on a treaty which reduced the
Grest Sioux Reservation by nearly one-half, approximately
eleven million acres. The threat and menace that charac-
terized the attermpts the previous year to obbtain the nec-
egsary signatures to reduce the size of the reservation
were evident 1n the Crook Cormission's proceedings. Crook
clearly saw what would havpen if this agreewent failed. The.
Siocux would have to give up their leands and probably ét con=-
siderable less compensation than provided by the erreerent,

The treaty reducing the size of the reéervation wes
unsuccessfully ovposed by many of the old chiefs including
Sitting Bull, Red Cloud and Big'Foot. Using a rather com-
prlicated forrula, the governrent vaid #.50 to 31.25 ver szere
for the land.! Red Cloud (Makhpia-Sha), during a stormy
session with the Crook Cormission, generally surmed up the
feeling of the old chiefs when waving a copy of the 1868
treaty he said: "I looked around to sec if I could see any
boxes of money that you had brought here to buy more land,
and I could not see any, and now I think this is talk of
éugar again just as this paper 19,10

The commission made many promises in order to get the
slgnatures. To soothe the old chiefs and clarify the treaty
and other imnlied commitments, the chiefs were invited to |

Vashington, D. C. On 18 December, 1809, they talked to



Seceretary John VW, Noble of the Department of the Interior
and then to President Harrison, Some promises were granted
such as 1lifting the ban on innocent dances and ernloying
greater numbers of Indians at agencies, but other Sioux Come
mission cormitments required Congressional approval, in-
cluding the annual appropriation of 100,000 to restore the
cut in the beef allowance.’

When the chiefs returned to their reservations they
found their people hunrry because of the reduced rations
and poor crops. Sickness and disease swept through thelir
camps., Then, on 10 February 1890, President Harrison ac-
cented the land agreement and opened it to settlement. There
was little rush by settlers to claim the arid snow-covered
land., This was just as well for no provision had been made
for the Indians to move off the ceded land nor had surveys
been made to determine the new boundaries of the rezervetion.
Possibly spgring would promise a better new year for the Sioux.

The better year could well accompany the coming of the
"Megsiah," This Messiah was a Palute Tndian named Wovoka.
Wovoka had experienced a vision; he "went to heaven and saw
Cod and all the people who died a long time ago."lo When he
returnsd to eafth he returned as the lMegsiah to the Indian
race. Wovoka's religion offered hope to all Indian nations.
He held forth a belief in varsdise, a vlace in which all
Indians would be forever free from the influence of the

white man. News of the Messiah reached the Teton Siocux in



the spring of 1890 when a delegation of the Teton Sloux,
which had been instructed in the tenets of the new relirion,
returned from what is now weatern Nevada, They had talked
to the prephet of the new religion, Wovoka preasched that

in the spring of 1891 a new world would come from the west
which would cover the old world except for the Indian. . The
Indian with an eagle feather fixed to hiz hair would rise
above the new world and then return to find sternal life
amonr, the Indian peopnle and their ancestors, They would
live surrounded by wild game. By participating in the

dance one could go into a trance and visit the new world be=-
fore it ceme, Wovoka taught the delegation the Qbost Danée
and also that the true bellever rust accept the Christién
ethic, which weas to do right always, not to fight, and not
to lie. The delegates listened and returned to the Great
Sioux Regervation with their own interpretation of the new
faith,11

In his book, ly reocple, the Sioux, Chief Standing Bear

quotes one of the stronrest bellevers among the delegates,

Short Bull of the Brule Sioux, as he exvlained the words of
the prophet to Indian Agent George Wright at the Rosebud
Agency:

He told us we were to have a new earth; that the
old earth would be covered up, snd while it was
being covered we were to keep dancing so that we
could remain on top of the dirt. . . He showed us
vislons of the olden times when buffalo were clenty:
Wwhan the big camps were on the Plains, All gur
reople were dancing and having a big feast.l



The question remains did the Indians really believe
their fantastic prophecy? Chief Standing Bear, then a young
Indian school teacher who had been educated st the Indian
school at Carlisle, certainly did not belleve, but he stated
that others did;

One of the best testimonies of Indian accecvtance of
Wovoka's prophecy i1s the story told by Homer W, Wneeler in

his book, Puffalo Dava, At that tire Wheeler wog a cavalry

lieuternant in charge of the Indian acouts at Darlington
Agency near Fort Reno, He was well 1liked by his scouts whom
he let atfend the Ghost Dances. One day, one of his old
scouts, One Horse, approached him with tears in his eves,
stating that he was véfy sad that the Lieutenant would not
be able to join him in the new life., VWhen Lieutenant
Wheeler expressed much concern, One Horse said he would see
what could be done. Severesl days later he returned sore-
what cheered stating that a council had been held, and they
had acreed that the lieutenant could be adopted into the
tribe so he could enjoy the new l1life, but would have to
marry a woman of the tribe, The council had already thought-
fully selected a wife for him.13

With the Sioux delegation's return from Nevada, Short
Bull and Kicking Bear became the major agitetors for the new
religion. Short Bull preached his message at Hosebud that
scring, but Agent Wright and a fine damp spring for planting

kept the relicious movement fror making any real headway,



The other strong believer, Kicking Bear, returned to the
Chevenne River Agency and Chief Big Foot's Miniconjou Sioux,
The agent there, Charles E, McChesney, did not interfere

with Kicking Bear's evangelism. Kicking Bear wrote letters
to the other agencies to surron all the Sioux to the Cheyenne
River Reservation for instruction in the Ghogst Dance, The
agents effectively stopped this move and the fervor for the
religion subsided. Kicking Bear went off to visit the
Arapahoes in hfyor.:ir}g;",.nL

Rurors of the spread of the Ghogt Dance reached wésh-
ington in the summer of 1890 and the Acting Cormissioner of
Indian Affalrs queried the Sioux agents on fhe situation,

The agents at Pine Ridge, Cheyenne River and Rosebud agencies
acknowledged the existence of thé new religion but minimized
1ts importance while to the north at Standing Rock, Arent
James McLaughlin stated that he had heard nothing of 1t,

Hunger continued on the rescervations. Subsistence rations
were gscarce or did not last for the period for which they were
issued, The farming season of 1890, however, raised the hoves
of the agents and the Indians. Large nimbers of Indians
vlanted gardens and crops and_suffici@nt spring reing got them
off to a good start. BEut hooes of good crops were short-lived,
Hot summer winds beat across the prairie, withering the par-

ens. Zlaine Goodale, a2 rescrvation teacher, recclled the
gcene: "The pltiful little rardens curled un and died in the

nersistent hot winds, Even young men disvlayed gaunt limbs
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and lack—lustér faces. 01d folks lost their hold on 1life,
and heart-broken mothers mourned the last of & series of dead
bables,"t> The Sioux, whose hopes had been so high in the
spring, agaln saw ahead another bleak winter of existence,
Such were the conditions under which Kicking Bear re-
turned to the Great Siloux Heservation, In October, Kicking
Bear visited Sitting Bull at Standing Reock. Xicking Bear had
expanded the tenets of the religion and modified them to the
Sioux culture, Gone was Wovoka's puidance to do right al-
ways, not to fight and not to lie., Kicking Bear told Sit-
ting Bull that the white man's gunpowder would not work
agalingt the red men who were true believers, but of course,
the red man's gunvowder would work against the white man.
He algo added, "And if a red man dies at the hands of the
whites while he is dancing, his spirit will only go to the
end of the earth and there Joln the ghosts of his fathers
and return to his friends next Spring.”lé
To the south on the Cheyenne River Reservation, Big
Foot's band, incensed over the loss of much of their re-
servation through the treaty, had moved as far away from
Agent lMcChesney as they could get, to the northwestern edge
of the reservation. The agent requested and received troops
to establish a camp of observation near the 130-rman-band to
insure that new land settlers would not be molested.l7 More
serious problems tepan to develop at rine Ridge. The Sioux

had modified the costume of Wovoka's Ghoat Dance to include
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the wearing of a "ghost shirt," The ghost shirt would make
the wearer invulnerable to the white man's bullets, Other
Ghost Dancing Indians adopted the ghost shirt, but only the
Sioux gave 1t bulletproof qualities.l8 No longer were the
Long Knives to be feared, The situation was indeed explosive

Agent D, H, Gallagher at Pine Rldge received complaints
about the excited dancing from the local farmers and on 23
August sent hils Indian Folice To stop the dancing. They re-
turned saying they had been ipnored; so the next day Gallaghe
went to see the dance for himself, He also took the agency's
interpreter, Philiv Wells, Special Indian Agent Reynolds, and
a detachment of Indian police. Thej were greeted by orenly
hostile warriors arméd with rifles, but after a council with
several chiefs the tension eased and all were invited to
stay and watch the dance, The dance apparently alarmed both
of the agents, since they sent off reports stating that re-
strictions gshould be placed on the dancing.19 The situati&ﬁ
continued to deteriorate throughout the Great Siocux Resepr-
vation as moat of the experienced Indian agents awaited theinr
Republican replacements to be appointed by the United States
government,

On 9 October, Dr, Daniel F, Royer, a physicilan fronm
Alvena, South Dakota, became the agent at Pine Ridge, He had
served two ferms in the territorial lerislature, but he had
ne experience 1n dealing with the Indians, When he arrived,

he found on his desk a message from the Indian Comﬁissioner
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in Washington informing him that he must warn the Indians
that the Ghost Dance was not to be élloWGd. He relayed the
Commissioner's message to the dancers, who ignored it, and

on 12 October Royer sent a letter to the Indian Commissioner
ststing that troops mlght be needed.eo He talked to the
chiefs and unsucceasfully attempted to versuade them to

stop the dancing, Then on 27 October, Major Ceneral Nelson
A, Yiles, new Cormanding General of the Division of Hissouri,
vigited Agent Royer while heading a commission to discuss
problems with the few Cheyennes at the reservation. The
famous fighter, who had defeated the Sloux in the battles
following the Seventh Cavalry's defeat at Little Big Horn,
spoke to the chiefs the next day, but was orenly rebuffed
and told that the Sioux would continue to dance. General
Miles still thought that the craze would die of its own ac-
cord with'the coming winter. Agent Royer belleved differently
After another unsuccessful day of trying to persuade the
chiefs, he posted a letter to the Indian Commissioner on 30
October, stating that "the only remedy for this matter is the
use of military,"

To the north, Agent MclLaurhlin still had the control
and respect of Sitting Bullfs Hunkpapas and saw no need for
imrediate milltery interventlon. However, he regarded Sit-
ting Bull as the source of the Ghost Dance problem and by a
letter dated 17 October requested permission to arrest him.

This was denied by the Indian Commissioner on 29 Octobern.
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It must be remembered that Sitiing Bull was the darling of
the voecal National Indian Defense Association led by lMrs.
Catherine Weldon who came to visit Sitting Bull in the
gspring of 1889 and stayed, much to the dismay of Arent
MeLaurhlin, Sitting Bull had also appeared in rany Hastern
c¢ities where he had been heralded as the Iﬁdian who killed

General Custer.21

At the Upper Cheyenne River Reservation, Chief Big
Foot's band continued to dance the Ghost Dance under the
watechful eyes of the U, S, Army. Mesnwhile, settlers had
begun to trickle into the newly opened land. To compound
the agency's problem, Chief Hump, head of the agency poliée
and hero of the Little Bilg Horn, had joined in the dancing
and feastling activities, The situation continued to worsen
at Rosebud Reservation to the east of Pirne Ridge where Agent
Wricht had been suspended, pending investigation of some
diserepancies in rations, and had bsen temporarily replaced
by Speclal Agent E, B. Reynolds. The newly egtablished
newspapers began to sound the slarm as settlers reported an
increasing loss of horses and cattle, while the storekcepers
did a brisk business in sellinz rifles and armunition to the
Sioux, TPressure also began to mount in Washington as letters
~and petitions arrived demanding that settlers and their pos-
segeions be proteeted. On 31 August, President Harrison or-
dered the Department of the Army to investipate, and Brigadier

General Thomas H, Ruger, Comrander of the Department of Dakota
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vigited the Cheyenne River and Stunding Rock Reservations.
His superior, General Mileg, was at that tire still heading
the Cheyenne Commission. Ruger agreed with igent McLaughlin
at Standing Rock that Sitting Bull had to be remocved, and
he reinforced Fort Bennett near the Cheyenne River Reser-

vation bringing it up to ftwo corpanies. He assessed the

-
<

situation as "less than reassuring, but still not dancerous.”

At Pine Ridge, Agent Royer had lost control, On 11 Fov-
ember, the agent's Indian wolice were seclzed by the Ghost
Dancers as they tried to errest an Indian narmed Little for
killing cattle., JIfeasting was an important part of the CGhost
Dance ritual; and with rations cut, beef was in short supply.
Chief American Horse Successfully intervened amid cries to
"kill the police and burn the agency." The scene took vlace
on ration day at Agent Royer's agency, and his telegram
shows how terrified he was:

Indiansg are dancing in the snow and are wild and

crazy. I have fully informed you that the employees

and government property at this agency have no pro-

tectlion and we need it now., I have submitted to you

the result of six weelks calm conservative inves-

tigation and nothing short of 1,000 soldiers wiil

settle thls dancing. The leaders should be arrested

and confined in some nmilitery uvost until the matter

is quieted and this should be done at once.

On the advice of the Acting Indian Cormissioner and the
Secretary of thé Interior, the President, on 13 Hoverber,
directed the Secretary of War "to assume responsibility for

the suppregsion of any threatened outbreak, and to take such

steps as may be necessary to that end," This directive gave
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a free hand to the U, S, Army; and in 1lirht of Rover's agrave
concern, troops were dispatched to the Pine Ridpe snd Rosebud
Agencies and along the railrcad snd telegrevh lires west and
south of the reservations. All the troops were under the
cormand of Bripadier CGeneral John R, Brooke, cormanding the
Department of the Platte.

Was the dispatch of troops to assist Agent Rover really |
necessary? The arrival of the soldiers probably united and
solidified the ghost dancers, who saw the coming of the sol-
diers as an attempt to deny them religious freedom. Tﬁis
was a major contributing factor te the later outbreak of
hostilities., The Indisns were belligerent, susplcious and
highly excitable, They viewed any act by the white man as
an attempt to curtail or halt ghost dancing activities. With
the Indlans in such a state, any small adminiztrative act
could provide the spark that would lead to bloodshed.

The news of the Indian problems and the movement of
troops finally reached the esstern newspapers. The New
York Tires on 19 November 1890, in an article entitled
"Indian War Scare," contained a rerort from Mandan, Horth
Dakota, concerning the local people's apprehension: "Enough
Indisns were now traveling about this secticn to run off all
the cattle and kill half the settlers in the county." The
article also quoted a telegram from General Mileg, in over-
all charge of the military ﬁction, to the Commanding General

of the Army, Major General John M, Schofield. The telegram
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stated thst the "Indians were exciting themselves with fre-
quent wer dances" and that the "Messiah, who 1s to exter-
minaté the white man" wis now predicted to avpear in December,
but that "Troops in adequate numbers have been stationed
at threztened points." Ceneral Miles had come to Washington
to confer with the Secretary of War and w!th General 3cho-
field, whose office had relessed a statement printed in the
game Times artiele, It stated that there appeared'to be
little irmediate danger of an outbreak, although the Indians
were well mounted, armed and provisioned and "in good con-
dition to go to war." The release further stated that the
storles of the flight of Dakota settlers were "overdpewn"
and that if the Indians went to war it would be because of
the, "strange superstition that now possesses them," not be=-
cause they were hungry since they were "well supplisd by the
govermnem:."‘21'L

The troops moved in on the night of 20 November at both
the Fine Rldge and Rosebud Reservations, When the Seventh
Cavalry marched into Pine Ridge, in its advance guard was
Private Jesse G. Harris who stated, "I was put about one
quarter mile In front and about one-half mile to the right
of the main cormand, with orders if I met any hostile Indians
to shoot and fall back . . . It wouldn't have taken me long
to fall back. I was scared."25 The Seventh Cavalry troops
were to remain at Pine Ridge until 27 December, 1890,

It is not difficult to imagine the talss that were told
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in the Seventh Cavalry's tents-at the Fine Ridse camp. The
most recenf engagement of the Regiment against the Indians
had been more than thirteen years earlier on 30 September
1877, when three companies constituting a vart of Ceneral
Miles! command had charged Into a Nez Perce village only to
be repulsed by Chief Joseph's well disciplined warriors
entrenched on commanding terrain., The Nez rerce capitulated
on 5 October, but only after killing five and wounding nine
Seventh Cavalry troopers.26 The orevious major battle had
been Custer's engasgement at the Little Big Horn where 265
members of the Seventh had been killed., Some of the of=-
ficers and men who had found the bodlies of Custer's ccm-
mand, meny of them mutilated by the Sioux, wepe still in the
regiment in 1890, When the Seventh was ordered after Big
Foot's band, it had a strength of about 500 including 81
very frirhtened recruits, 31 of whom had joined the reg-
iment at Fine Ridge.27

Even as the Seventh Cavalry encsmped at Pine Ridge, the
United States Senate debated a resolution to provide 1,000
rifles and 50 cartridges per rifle to the states of North
Dakota, South Dakota and Nebreska., The rifles were to be
issued to the settlers of thesgse states to orovide protection
from the Indlan rmenace. The debate of the resolution turned
into an attack by Senator Vorhees of Indiana on the adminis-
tration's policy of "inequity and of crime against the Indians

e « « taking thelr lands and not even paying them enourh to
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keep them from starving to death," Senator Henry L., Dawes

of Massachusetts, Cheirman of the Ihdian Affairs Commlttee,
answered these charges and those of Senator Hawley who sug=-
gested that cattle to the red man would be nmore appropriate
than guns to the white man., Senator Dawes stated that it

was Congress that cut the appropriation each vear to force
the Indian to bscome more self-sulficient and, furtherrore,
that there would be trouble until Sitting Bull and Red Cloud,

“the bane and the curse,”

were removed. dewgpapers were
gquoted during the debate, stating 1t was the opinion of
General Miles that the Sioux were being starved and would
rather fight than starve. Senator Pierce from North Dakota
entered the dlscusslon saying that the Indians were always
hungry, and the troubls was that they were "allcwed to live
upon the bounty of the Government" and thus had idle time to
become dangerous men. He cuoted an interview with General
Miles concerning the causes of the vroblem as "insufficient
food supplies, religious delusion, and the innate disposition
of the savage to go to war." Senator Vorhees closed the
debate with a broadside at the Rerublican administration and
its starvatlon policy which would coat the lives of soldiers
at the expense of those like the Senator from Hortih Dakota
who were "looking on their lands with a longlng and a lust"
and thinking that "the only good Indian is a dead Indian."28
And what of the Indlans back on the Great Siocux Reser-

vation? The arrival of the troops guickly separated the
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Ghogt Dancers or hostiles from the so called progressives or
friendlies who abandoned their camps and clustered around the
agencies of Pine Ridge and Rosebud. The Ghost Dancers as-
sembled about forty miles to the north of the Pine Ridge
Agency, sacking the abandoned carmps of the friendlies and
approoriating cattle as they went, Major General Brooke,

in charge of the operations in the area, sent cne of his
scouts, Joe Merrivale, to persuade the Ghost Dancers to

come Iinto the Pine Ridge Agency. Ihs Ghost Dancers fired

a volley over the scout's head and he quickly retreated,
Other scouts were more successful and encouraged some Indians
under Little Wound and Big Road to return on 27-28 Novembér.
e remainder, including about 600 werriors, moved with their
appropriated cattlé to the northwest edge of the Pine Ridge
Reservation into an area called the Stronghold, a portion of
the Cuny Table Plateau which jutted up from the plains
several hundred feet, With an area of about four square
miles, the Stronghold was connected to the méin plateau by

a narrow steep sided ridge, its only entrance unless one
gcaled the 200 foot cliffs, This natural fortregs also had
two springs end grass for the cattle. The Sioux, primarily
Oglala and Brule, under Kicking Bear and Short Bull, danced

end feasted safely in theip Stronghold.29 Although Chief

ol

iz Foot, whose Miniconjous were dancing at the Cheyenne
River Reservation, had professed peaceful intentlons, the

militance of his followers had not abated, The tragedy of
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Big Foot was to repeat u theme familiar in the history of
Indian warg~=-a chief hurried unwillingly toward disaster by
fiery young men he could not control.

Acent Melaughlin still retained control of the Hunkpapas
one hundred miles to the north but continued to press for the
seizure and jailing of Sitting Bull as soon as the sncws came,
Ceneral Miles attempted to facilitate the seizure of Sitting
Bull through the use of "Buffclo Bill" Cody, his friend and
scout during his campaigns acainst the Sioux in 1876-77.
Sitting Bull had been a feature attraction in Buffalo Bill's
Wild West Show. On 27 November, Buffalo Bill and party plus
reporters arrived., The Indians had quieted down, and the
last thing McLaughlin.and the commander of adjacent Fort
Yates,Lieutenant Colonel William F, Drum, wanted was to get
them stirred up szain. They successfully stalled Cody for
two days awaiting an answer from Washinpgton to McLaughlin's
urgent telegram to suspend Cody's mission. The answer came‘
af'ter a conference attended by the Secretary of War, the
Secretary of Interior and the FPresident. Cody would not
intervene.Bo

General Miles was furious and went to Washington to
plead his case to General Schofizld, the newzpapers and
Senator Vorhees. He wanted no more interference from the
agents and felt the Army, not the Department of the Interior
as represented by the Indian Agents, should be in chargce.

The conflict between the Department of the Interior and the
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Army had been brewing for yesars.

Military offlicers bltterly objected to their exclusion
from reservation affairs until after the outbreak of trouble.
In their view, this gave them the unenviable task of fighting
a war which they had been denied any part In preventing.
Colonel Orlando B, Wilcox expressed the Army's resentment in
these words: "ATter denriving the Indisn of his lands and
oroper means of subslstance, at what point in his subsequent
career of starvation, misery and desperation shall you regard:
him as a public enemy? For it 13 only at some such point that
the military can come in without being rega;ded as the in-
truder."31 General William T. Sherman, Commanding Genersl of
the Army, identified the same problem and zhrased his corment
much more bluntly: '"The Indian Bureau keeps feedins and
clothing the Indians regardless of their behavior, till they
get fat and saucy, and only then are we notified that the
Indians are troublesome and are going to war, after it is too
late to provide the reredy."3° General Miles had made his
point, but dval responsibility for the Sioux problem continued

Upon his return to Chicsgo, General lMiles found that
the problem had become lsolated to the Stronghold and the
Cheyenne River Reservation more than 100 miles to the north
where the Miniconjou were dancing in two separate camps
under the leadership of Chiefs Fump and Big Foot. Big Foot's
band had been under observation since spring, and the troops

continued to observe them from a camp several miles away,
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Their relatiohship with Big Foot and his band was almost
cordial, and they had even mingled together to pose for
photo;_-;'raphs.:i3

General Miles knew Cnisf Hump well, for the great war-
rior of the Little Big Horn had surrendered to the General in
1877 and then served very effectively as scout for the Army
for the next seven years under one of Miles' officers, Captain
Egzra P, Ewers, At the recommendation of General Miles, Ewers
was brought up from his station in Texas to talk with Hump,
He arrived on L December, renewed his friendship with Hump
and convinced him to return with his band to the agsncy at
the request of the General, On 9 December, Hump and his band
returned, and Hump again put on his uniform of Army scout.
All except thirty of Chief Hump's followers returned to Fort
Bennett with Captain Zwers, These thirty broke away to join
Big Foot and increased Big Poot's band to 116 warriors.jh

Brigadier General John R, Brooke, Commnander of the De-
partment of the FPlatte, made progress with the Indians in the
Stronghold primarily through the help of Father John Jutz, a
70 year old Catholic missionary who had established a mission
and & school near Pine Ridge Agency in 1888, The Father re-
turned with a nervous and Tearful group of thirly lesser
‘chiefs and warriors. General Brooke treasted ther courteously,

Istened patlently and then gave them a bilg feast, He pro-~

riged them more food and jobs as Army scouts if they would

return with their neople, Hurmerous recorters, armed to the
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teeth, were now et Pine Ridge. The New York Iimes of Dec-
ember seven carried a detzlled account of Father Jutz's
brave visit and also an article entitled, "General Schofield
on the Situation - The Practicsl Difficulty of Disarming the
Indians Explained.," In the latter article, the easse with
which Indians could buy rifles was explained together with
their habit of hiding the rifles until they were ready for
war, The srticle then quoted a letter to General ¥iles in
which the Secretary of War presented the Fregident's views.
General lMiles was congratuleted on his “"persuasive methods
to bring in as many Indlans as possible and to complete mili-
tary rreparations before any arrests are made." The President
also exrressed '“his fﬁll con“idence that the resyonsibility
is placed in good hands.” The erticle also quoted a megsage
from General ¥iles to General Brooke stating, "You are in
command there end authorized to use your discretion to control
those Indians, to prevent an outbreak or to suppress one if
it should occur;”35 Trouble was still anticipated, On 15
Dacember, the first of the 900 Brule Sioux frorm the Strong-
hold began to arrive peacefully at Pine Ridge Agency. To
the north at Standing Rock, a platoon of Indian police backed
by a cavselry squadron moﬁed to seize Sittlng Bull,

Two days prior, Agent McLaushlin had received a written
recuest from Sitting Bull to visit Pine Ridre, and the Indian
rolice reported that he would go with or without permission.

FeLaurhlin wrote an arrest order for Sitting Bull and had it
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carried to Lieutenant Bull Head. It incliuded a "F, S. You
' 6

LV

must not let him escape under any circunmstances," and wasg

written in both English and Sioux. Bull Head's police en-
tered the carp at 5:30 &, m., and Sitting Bull submitted
meekly to arrest; however, the camp was aroused by the time
the police brought Sitting Eull throuch the door of nis house,
There was a confrontation, Sitting Bull shouted to his war-
riors to save him and a bloody fight brolke out., After taking
a bullet in the side, Bull Head shot Sitting Bull: the volice
withdrew to the house and the hostile Hunkpapas to the.ad—
jacent woods. The cavalry arrived a short time later, after
scattering the hostile Indians with some long range light
artillery fire, Eight Hunk?apas, including Sitting Bull,
were kllled at the cost of six Indian police desd or dying
and one wounded.37 A8 the police and cavalry were preparing
to depart, Crow Woran, who had donned his Ghost Shirt, gal-
loped toward the firing soldiers and volice three times at
ranges of 80 to LOQ yards and escaped unscathed in full view
of many members of the tribe, A laorge number of the tribe
followed the cavalry back to the safety of the agency, and
the rerainder, including Crow Woman, moved south to join Big
Foot's band.38

With the death of Sitting Bull, the only prominent Indian
chief who was considered possibly danpgerous was Chief Big
Yoot, camped to the south of the forks of the Cheyenne River,

Lieutenant Colonel Idwin V., Sumner's command from the Eighth
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Cevalry had béen riven the job of watching Blp Foot's band.
They were performing this mission when on 19 Dececmber, thirty-
eight'of Sitting Bull's Hunkpapas, including fourteen warrioré
joired Big Foot. Big Foot had also received accurate reports
of ar Infantry regiment of four companies moving toward him
from the east. He joined Sumner's cormand to return to his
old camp, Later that evening Sumner recieved a measace from
Ceneral ¥Miles, who had now moved his cormmand post ﬁo depid
City, South Dakota., Summer was to move west with Big Foot

and his band to Fort Meade and screen the northern Black

Hi1lls settlements from possible hostile raiding parties.39

Lieutenant Colonel Surmer felt that he could not také
Big Foot without a bloody fight that did not seer necessary,
perticularly since specific orders had not vet been received
to arreét Big Foot. Moreover, Surmer felt that Big Foot was
making a concerted effort to keep the more militant members
of his band quiet., At that voint he foresaw no problem
with Big Foot and the Miniconjous,

Sumner asked Bip Foot to move east to the agency while
he prepared his command tc move west to screen the Black
Fills., In the meantime, Blpg Foot was considering an invi-
tation from the Fine Ridge chiefs who had offered him 100
‘ponies to quiet things there. Big Foot wanted to go east
to Port Bennett, but his courcil feared a trap. Late on the
twenty~tnlrd, Big Foot's band moved south, and a message to

that effect was sent to Sumner by one of his scouts. On the
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twentv-fourth, Sumner received a telegram directirg him to
arrest Bilg Foot and any of Hunp's or Sitling Bull's warriors
he found with him., Geperszl Miles! message stated that "irf
an oprortunity is given, they will undoubtedly join those in
the Badlands . . . disarm them, and take them to Fort Meade
or Bennett.”ho The direct order for Sumner to arrest Big
Foot came tco late., Big Foot and his band, on the nirht of
23 December, had eluded Sumner's scouts snd headed south for
Pine Ridge.

Numerous unlts searched for Big Foot's band as they
moved south toward FPire Ridge. The trip was slow and painful
for Big Foot who was prostrate with pneumonia and was being
jolted in a wagon bed, Bilg Foot's messengers went ghead to
Pire Ridge and returned rcvorting that all of the Indians
were abandoning their positions in the Stronghold and coeming
in on the 29th and that there were troops on Wounded Knee
Creek. Big Foot ordered messengers to contact these troops
which they did about noon, 28 December, The troons, one
squadron of the Seventh Cavelry, were under the corrand of
Major Saruel W, Whitside. The meeting of the cavalry and Big
Foot's band was somewhat tense, but a white flag appesared
from a pole on Blg Foot's wagon after the cavalry had deployed
as skirmishers with cannons to the front. Big Foot was trans-
ferred to the more comfortable Army ambulance waron which
at least had springs, Major Whitside discussed his orders to

disarm and to dismount the Indiansz with his chief acout,
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Sangreau, They decided agalnst disarmament at that time
since many of Big Foot's warriors wefe still riding wildly
about brandishing their rifles. Major Whitside reported the
capture by meszenger and heliograph and requested that the
remainder of the regiment join him. He escorted the Indians
to his Wounded Knee Cresk camp.

The elements of the Seventh Cavalry and Big Foot's band
closed the camp late in the aftesrncon., The camp,‘located in
a shallow v alley about 300 to 500 yards across was bisected
by a dry wash, Low hills to the east and west were nearbdy,
The Indians set up their camp about 200 yards south of the
cavalry camp along the dry wash which ran near ths rear éf
the Indian camp, Chief Big Foot wzg placed In a heated
wall tent erected for him at Whitside's direction. The
ailing Indian Chief was.attendad to by the assistant regi-
rental surgeon,

Colonel James W. Forsyth arrived with the remainder of
the Seventh Cavalry and two more light cannons early in the
evening. His total troop strength was approximately 500
nen, supported by four cannons. The cannons were placed on
the low hi1ll to the west of the two camps, about 200 yards
distant, The bulk of the troops camped north of the Indilans,
" but sentries and interconnecting patrols kept watch on the
camp throughout the night. Plans for the next day were dis-
cussed over a keg of whisky which had been brourht up with

Colonel Forsyth's troops. Colonel Forsyth's verbal orders
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from General Brooke as he later recalled wers: "To disarm
Big Foot's band, take every procaution to prevent the egcape
of any; and if they foucht, to destroy them, "1

Colonel Forsyth was well liked and respected by his men.
Although his experiences with Indians had been limited to a
few skirmishes in 1877, he had a splendid record during the
Civil War, A VWest Point graduate of 1856, within eight years
he had risen to Brigadier Gencral of Volunteers through
brevets for gallantry and meritorious service. His service
included commanding one of Sheridan's cavalry brigades in the
Civil War raid from Winchester to Petersburg., He had re=
verted to major after the war and served with the 10th and
the 1lst Cavalry Regim@nts and had assumed commond of the 7th
Cavalry on 11 January 1886. Concurrent with this command,
he also commanded Fort Riley, Kansas, from 10 September 1887
to 10 November 1890, where he developed and organized the
practical instruction for the Cavalry and Artillery School..'
He was an experienced, capable soldier but not an experienced
Indian fighter.ha

Big Foot's band awoke the morning of the 29th to find
themselves surrounded by soldiers 100 to 300 yards distant.
Preparations were being made to disarm the Indians vrior to
taking them to the agency. They were given breakfast rations
by the cavalry, and then the approximately 120 warriors were
summoned to Big Foot's tent by Forsyth's chief scout, Sangreau

The plan was simnle enough, Working through Chief Big Foot,
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the Indians would be directed to return to their tents in
groups of twenty, get their weapons and turn them in to the
cavalry. In theory it seemed like a good ©vlan, in execution
it would vrove impractical as experienced Indian fighters
from General Schofield on down realized., Also not taken inteo
account, or at least not well understood, was Genersl Miles!
philosophy in dealins with the Sioux which he learned the
hard way in 1876-1877.

The Indi=n is a most dancerous warrior within 200

yards, the range within which he is sccustomed to

kill game, . . War is entirely voluntary with him,

I? he thinks it is a good day for =calps and vlunder,

he is very daring. . . There is no such thinrg as

order, positive authority, or disciplirie arong them,

Knowing this I found it ﬁg our advantage to hold

them at a safe distance,

About 100 warriors were assembled between the two camps,
facing Big Foot's tent. Colonel Forsyth svrcke to the war-
riors through Sangreau, explaining why they must surrender
their guns and that they were "perfectly safe in the hands
of their old friends, the soldlers and that starvation and

|

other troubles were now happily at an end.“‘l‘LL Twenty ware
riors were c¢ounted off and told by Sangreau to go to thelr
tipis and return with thelr rifles. Uvon returning, only
twoe mach abused and broken rifles were presented. Put no-
where was there evident the Winchester carbines observed by
Major Whitside's troopersa the previous day.us Not satisfied
with the warriors! performance, Colonel Forsyth ordered Rig

Foot broucht out of the tent and propped up in front of the

line of warriors, The Chief was bleedins from the nose énd
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too wesk and stiff to stand. The Indians began to »ill

about nervously end move toward their camp about 150 vards

to the rear, Colonel Forsyth moved two dismounted troops
toteling 110 men from the cavalry carmp in behind the Indian
warriors at a distance of about 30 yards, cutting them off
from thelr camp., Colonel Forsvth asked for Big Foot's assis-
tance in obtaining the weapons; Big Foot refused to coop-'
erate. It seemed evident that the warriors were not roing

to surrender thelr weavons voluntarily. Again the soldiers
were crdered to move up closer to the Indians while another
detachment wag ordered to search the tipis., After a thor-
ocugh gearch the soldiers returned with about 1O rifles, mﬁst
of which were old and of 1little value.ué Acain the Winchester
carbines, observed by Major ¥Whitside in his first encountev
with Bilg foot, did not appear,

During the search, the Indian band's medicine man Yellow
Bird, dresgsed in his Ghost Dance costume, danced znd chanted
before the crowd of warriors now squatting on the ground with
their blankets around them. Yellow Bird was urging the war-
riorg to regist, The soldiers' bullets would be harnless
against their "ghost shirts" which nesrly all the Indians
wore, The search corpleted, Colonel Forsyth and Wells talked
‘and then announced that the werriors would have to submit to
individual search., The old warriors volunteered to be searched
first and were found to be unarmed. Then, one by one, the

young warriors began to be sesrched. The first three yielded
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two rifles. Yellow Bird had started to dance again and the
warriors vezan to mill about restlessly. The line of troopers
separating the warrlors from their camp, nervously backed up
a few paces and bunched torether in small groups. While the
guns were being taken, ". . ., a crazy ran, a younsg ran of very
bad influence egnd, in fact, a nobody, among that buneh of
Indians fired his pun . . . . and imrediately the soldiers
returned fire and indiscriminate killing followed.'H7

One can only imsgine the thourhts that rust have been
passing through the minds of the young warriors at that moment
Yellow Bird had sald the signs were rirht as had Sitting Bull
‘before the Battle of Little Big Horn. The cavalry was thredt-
enineg the carp of tha.women and children as Custer had done
at Washita., The Chost Shirt had protected Crow Woman from
the soldiers! bullets after Sitting Bull had been killed by
the Indian police, The messiash was to come in Descerber.
Counting coup was assured since the soldiers were so close.
Were these not the same soldiers that the Sioux had defeated
at Little Big Horn and the same ones who killed woren and
children at Washita? And what of Big Foot, their chief? He
was unable to lead the ficht. The situation needed only the
nroper catalyst to allow the youns warriors to take the
initative., The loud rervort of the rifle shnt provided that
catalvat,

At the shot, ive or six younr warriors facing K Troop

threw off thelr blenkets, leveled thelr rifles, hesitated an
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instant and then fired. The battle was on., MNany of the
warriors broke through the line of cavalry after the initial
exchange of shots and fled to their camp. They and many
women snd children tried to escape up a dry wash., The
fichting, inltlally at close quarters broke into isolated
and confused skirmishes or wanton slau—hter of entire groups.

At the sound of the first volley, the artillerymen
opened fire with thelr Hotechkiss gung. Firing at the rate of
nearly fifty rounds per minute, the result was devastating.
In a few minutes 200 Indian men, women and children wefe
lying dead or mortally wounded.u

The Indians who miraculously survived the initial vol-~
leys of the Hotchkiss gun, fled up the ravine pursued by
the infuriated troopers. There is little doubt that what
followed was anything else than a massacre., fleeing women
with infants 1n thelr arms were shot down after all resis-
tance had ceased., The fact that so many women and children
were killed and thelr bodies found far from the scene of
action, in some cases as much as two miles away, one would
think that blind rage was at work., The éoldiers wantonly
gslaughtered anything resembling an Indian,

The newspapers played un the bzttle to a nation that
had been told for weeks that an Indian war was imminent.
The New York Timesg, on 30 December, headed its column with
"Big Foot's Treachery Precipitates a Battle." It further

stated that "The Indians were shot down whersver found, no
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gquarter being given by anyone « » . + The members of the
Seventh Cavalry have once more shown themselves to be heroes
in deeds of daring.”" The article made no direct reference
to the killing of women and children and only estimated
Indian losses at 50, probably because the reporters at the
scene had rushed back with the story before surveying the
battlefleld., According to revorts, General Schofield,
"though deeply regretting the incident, (he) was not greatly
surpriszed when he learned of the tregchery dlsplayed by the
Indians.”" Secretary of War Proctor also expresssd regret.

He supposed 1nasrmuch as Big Foot was connected

with Sitting Bull's band, 1t was a case where

ziiiin%iigzd?ﬁgted revenge for the killing qf
One segment of tﬁe pregs depicted the ceconflict as a triumph
of brave soldiers over the treacherous, blood thirsty Indians.,
The other segment was outraged that the members of the Seventh
Cavalry would shoot down innocent women and children as re-
venge for the debacle at Little Big Horn.

Colonel Forsyth's regiment returned to Pine Ridge that
night with their wounded and dead plus cavrtured and wounded
Indiars, Many of the Pine Ridge Agency Indians fled to'join
Short Bull and Kicking Bear with their band which was coming
Trom the Stronghold and only about fifteen miles northwest
of the Pine Ridge Agency at White Clay Creek. Skirrishes
with the Indians continved for several days. As band after
band of Indisns surrendered, the camp at White Clay Creek

swelled to over l,000 of which about 1,000 were warriors, now
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quickly surrounded by troovrs who were kept at a distance,
| CGeneral Miles had nearly half of the U, S, Army's infantry
and cavalry in the Fine Ridge area.

General Miles had arrived at Pine Ridge from Rapid City,
S, D., on 31 December 1890, He was not havppy: and initially,
his anger was directed at Liesutenant Colonel Surner who had
allowed Big Moot to escape. Subsequently, when he and
the press learned the full extent of the .casnalties of the
Wounded Knee Battle, he was convinced that Colonel Fofsyth‘s
poor judgment was to blame, When the sensational rervorts of
the number of women and children killed reached the Preglident
and the rest of the nation, the pregsure beran to build in
Washington, General Schofield Eelegramed the President's

4]

request that "an Inquiry be made as to the killing of women

e
and children on Wounded Knee Creelk,">0

How General Miles
felt is probably best expressed in his letter to his wife:

The Forsyth action was a useless slaurhter of

Innocent woren and children , . . . If Sherman,

I mean our boy, could not make a better dis-

position of hils troops, I would be disavpointed.

At the time only two troops could fire uvon the

warriors, but they giuld and did fire uvon

wemen and children, ‘ '

General Miles reacted to General Schofield's telegram
by relieving Colonel Forsyth and convening a fullscale court
of inquiry to determine if Forsyth had disposed his troops
g0 that they shot one another, and if his men had killed

noncombatants indiscriminately. There was little doubt in
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General Milea! mind that Colonel Forsyth had blundered and
disregarded his instructions of 18 and 22 Vovenber as well as
of 7 Decerber which all clearly stated "not to allow the com=
mand to be mixed up with Indians in any way.," After consid-
ering these Instruections and taking extensive testimony from
rany witnesses, both military and civilian, the Insvector
General on General Viles' staff concluded that casualties
among women and children '"could be ascribed only to the fault
of the Indiens themseclves and to the force of unavoidable and
unfortunate circumstances."52 As to the troop dispositions,
Forsyth was criticized: "Colonel Forsyth's cormand was not
held at a safe distence , . . the attack of the Indians re-
sulted in comnlete surprise.”53‘ General Miles endorsed the
revort concluding that, "Forsyth not only disobeved explicit
orders but also demonsgtrated incompetence."gu General Scho-
field and the Secretary of VWar reviewed the rerort and tele-
gramed General Miles that, "the interests of the military
service do not . . . demand any further proceedings in this
case ., . o by direction of the President, Colonel Forsyth
will resume cormand of the regiment."ss

General Miles bent his efforts at bringing in the Indians
at White Clsy Creek, He massed h's troops around the Indians
and allowed only one route of escare, toward the agency. He
then wrote Red’010ud and the other chiefs reminding them that,
"A great many troops are on all sides, but not a shot will be
fired . . . against any (Indians) if they do as I direct,"56

The Cplalas under Red Cloud wanted to come 1n, but the Brules
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resisted. Uﬁder increasing pressure from other Sioux Chiefs,
the Brules slowly gave in and on 16 January the surrender wos
comvlete as Kicking Bear laid his rifle at the feet of Genera
Miles as he had done once before in 1877. This time the
Oplala Sioux under Bilg Road collected the weapons from their
people., General Hiles complained bitterly during these two
weeks that, "I received many insulting communications de-
nouncling what the writers surposed to be procrastination or
timidity . . . and from cthers anxiovs to have hostilities
precipltated in order that the vultures might prey uovon the
spoils of‘war."57

The friendly overtures rade to the Siocux nations by‘
General Miles, with evidences that the government desired tlo
end the conflict and settle thelr grievsnces, had their ef-
fects on the Indians, Throuch the influence exerted by the
friendly chiefs, over !,,000 Tndlans moved to within sight of
the agency and expressed their desire for peace. General
Miles! troops moved in around them and on 16 January 1891,
the Indians officially surrendered, bringing an end to the
outbreak.58

Thus ended the so called outbreak of 1891 and the final
gubjuration of the Sloux. In the Government's tellings of the
story, it is posszible to observe the enorrous gap between
cultures, both Indian and white and military and civilian,
which caused misunderstandlings and injustices to escalate
into murder and devastation.

But what of the actlons of the military at Wounded Knee?
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in charge. Colonel Forsyth had endeavored to make Chief Big
Foot as comfortable as possible on the night oI surrender,
28 December 1891, He had even sent his own surgcon to ad-
minister to the alling chief, He had sevarasted the wormen and
children from the warriors. Strict orders had been given to
the soldiers that women and children were not to be hurt., The
butchery of woren and children waog the work of infuristed sol-
diers whoses comrades were shot down withouvt warning (See Ap-
pendix I), In defense of the soldiers, it should be noted
that a number of them were raw recruits, not experienced in
.battle or inbred with milltary disecipline and they probably 
had diffieculty in dis%inguishing between men and women by their
dress, These reascns do not, howaver, sxcuse the leadership
of the Seventh Cavalry for allowing the butchery to continuse.
It must be concluded that on the morningz of 29 December,
no trouble was anticipated or vremeditated by Colonsl Forsyfﬁ
or the Indians,. The Indjans in good faith desired to surrender
and be at peace, The officers of the Seventh Cavalry were
operating in the same good faith and were making oreparations
to receive the surrender of the members of Big Foot's band
and return them to the reservation. Wotwithstanding the
peaceful intent of Big Foot and his band, the medicine man
Y21llow Bird urged the warriors to resist, This effort of
Yellow Bird resulted in an Tndian firing the shot which began

the melee, But 1t should not be immediately concluded that
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the answering volleys and the attsck of the troops were right

and justifiable, Was there not still a chance for peaceful

nepotiation throuch Insichtful leadership? In any case the

wholesale slaughter of women and children by the Seventh
Cavalry was inexcusable,

For his conduct of the disarming of Big Foot and his
band, Colonel Forsyth was relieved of his command, In his
time he was criticized by General Miles, the Indians and a

few humanitarians, but congratulated by Washington and the

nation, Presldent Harrison summed up his feeling which re-

flected those of the nation in his Third Annual Message to
the Senate and Eouse of Representatives on 9 December 1891

That these Indians had some just complaints, es-
pecially in the matter of the reduction of the
appropriation for rations . . . 18 vrobadly true:
but the Sioux are naturally warlike and turbulient,
and thelr warriors were excited by thelr medicine
men and chiefs, who vreached the coming of an
Indian Messgiah who was to give them power to de-
stroy their enenies. In view of the alarm that
prevailed among the white settlers near the res-
ervation and of the fatal consecuences that would
have resulted frorm an Indian incursion, I placsd
at the disposal of General FMiles, Commznding the
Division of Migsouri, all such forces as were
thought by him to be required. He is entitled to
the eredit of having given thorough crotection to
the settlers and bringing the hostiles into sub-
jugation with the least possible loss of 1life.-?

And in nearly the next breath the President stated:

Since March Iy, 1889, about 23,000,000 acres
(11,000,000 from the Sioux) have bean sepa-
rated from Indian reservatlons and added to
the public domain for the use of those who
desired to segBre free homes under our bene-
ficient laws,

In the eyes of the President the U. S, Army had performed

1ts



39

riission to serve 1lts Commander in Chief faithfully and had
done so to the benefit of all the nation.

As for the Sioux, if there had been no vronised Messalah
or no Ghost Dance, would the outbreak have occurred? The
presence of the U, S. Army was perceived by the Sioux as a
threat to their relligious freedom even though the religion
was based in part upon Christian teachings. The arrival of
the soldlers made the Indian a bellicerent in his own land.
The soldiers were there to stamp out his newly found relicion
with its promise of a better 1life,

It 1s difficult to understand why the white man felt
~ threatened by the Ghost Dence. They shoﬁld have viewsd the.
Ghogt Dance ag did Chief Little Wound of the Oglala Sioux,
" o« . if this is a good thing we should have it, if it 1s
not, it will fall to the earth by itself."l Fad the army
remained on the perivhery and not attempted to disarm Big
Foot's braves on Wounded Knee Cresk there is serious doubt
that any cobfroptation would have ceccurred. As 1t was,
soring came and went and when no Megsiah appearsd the Sioux
goon forgot the religion that had cromised so ruch,

The Army had again triumphed over the Indian. The Army
had won not by brilliant and insightful lesadership, but
rather by superior numbers and devastating firepower. The
victory with 1ts devastating slaurhter of Big Foot's band
did not however, deter the advanpement of those officers in

comrand nor did it degrade the Army in the eyes of a prateful
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nation, General Miles in 1895, four years after Wounded

Knee was to ascend to the highest position in the Army, As
for the officers Miles had relieved of command, Colonel
Forsyth later rose to the rank of Major General. He was
replaced in his old command by Colonel Sumner, the officer
responsible for Big Foot's escape. Both of these officers
had been subjected to boards of inquiry by General Miles,

As the crowning irony to the Wounded Knee confrontation, a
skirmish that had lasted only a few hours, three officers and
fifteen enlisted men were awarded Medals of Honor (See Ap-
pendix 2) for their heroic deeds during the.action at Wounded

Knee Creek.62
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WOUNDED KNEX CASUALTIES

Below is a complete list of the ofricers and enlisted

men who were killed or died from wounds received at Wounded

Knee Creek, 29 Decerber 1890,

The casunalties are listed in

an official reply from the Army's Adjutent Ceneral Depart-

ment dated May 26, 1891 (Mooney v. 872).

Adamg, William
Bone, Albert S, (died of wounds)
Coffey, Ira S,

Cook, Ralph L.

Corwine, Richard W,

Costello, John

Curmingg, Pierce

DeVreade, Jon

Dyer, Arthur C,

Elliott, George (died of wounds)
Forrest, Harry R,

Frey, Henry

Graubery, Herman (died of wounds)
Hodges, William T.

Howard, Henry (died of wounds)
Johnson, George P,

Kelley, James E,

Kelner, August

Korn, Gustav

Logan, James
MeClintock, William ¥,
FeCue, John M,
Mann, James D, (died of wounds)
Mezo, William S,
Murphy, Joseph
Nettles, Robert H,
Newel, Charles H, (died of wounds)
Relnecky, Frank T.

Schwenkey, Phillip

Stone, Harry B, (died of wounds)
Twohig, Daniel

Wallace, George B,

Zehnder, Bernhard (died of wounds)
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APPENDIX IX
RECIPIENTS OF THE
MEDAL OF HONOR

BATTLZ OF WOUNDED KNEE, DECEMBER, 1891

Austin, William G,, Sgt. FPeaster, Mosheinm, Pvt,
Clancy, John BE,, Pvt, Loyd, George, Sgt.
Carlington, Earnest A., 1 Lt. e Mlilan, Albert W., Sgt.
Gresham, John C., 1 L%, Sullivan, Thomas, Fvt,
Hamilton, Mathew H,, Pvt, Toy, Frederick E.,, 1 Sgt,.
Hartzog, Joshua B,, Pvt. Trautman, Jacob, 1 Sgt,
VHawthorne, Harry L, 2 Lt, Ward, James, Sgt.

Hillock, Marvin C., Pvt. Weinert, Paul H., Cpt.

Hobday, George, Pvt. Ziegner, Hermann, Fvt.
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The Battle of Wounded Knee was the last major battle
between the United States Army and the American Indian.
Accounts of the bettle and the events precipitating it have
been and continue to be, conflicting and often emotional.
Meny theories have been advanced to explain the causes and
results of the bettle if it can indeed be called a batfle.
Many have called the "battle" a regrettable, tragic sc-
cident. Others have sought a culprit by blaming a nation
who thought the only good Indian was a dead Indian; or a
government which supposedly starved the Indian and made
treaties only to break them to the advantage of a select few;
or the U, S, Seventh Cavalry which exacted revenge for ité
defeat at Little Big Horn; or the Sioux to whom fighting and
killing was a way of life; or to the leaders of the Messiah
craze, such as Sitting Bﬁll, who readily explbited the un=-
rest to resﬁore thelir lost prestige; or to the large re-
duction in the size of the reservations and the failﬁre to
provide a full allotment of rations., There is an element of
truth In easch of these theories.

Reasons for the catastro-hic confrontation have been
attributed to leadership, both Indian and U, S, troops.
Chief Big Foot has been clasged as a poor lesder with very
‘1little influence over the more militant members of his
band, _The Army leaders, lacking in positive leadershnip and
cormon sense 1in the positioning of their units and in their

abortive attempt to disarm the Vinlconjous, and Chief Big



Fo&t in lacking control over the Ghost Dance fanatics,
created an exploslve situation that was to culminate in

a massacre and an end to a way of 1ife. In retrospect,
there was a comnlicated chain of events leading to the
conflict on Wounded Knee Creek and many varied influences
impacted upon the actions of the combatants.

Yany factors influenced the actions of the Seventh
Cavalry troopers and Big Foot's band of Sioux Indians.
The Seventh Cavalry, in the opinion of General Nelson
Miles, wanted a definite and final end to the Sioux
problem. On the other hand the Sioux were ensconced in

.the belief, that by means of the Ghost Dance and the coming .
af the Messiah, they would soon be rid of the white man and
would return to the days when the buffalo were plentiful
and they enjoyed the freedom of the plains. To the true
béliever in the Messlah, the white man's bullets could
cause nc harm. |

An attempt.will be made to clarify the backzround of
events which culminated in the battle and voint out the
many influences which caused the Sioux to opt for béttle

with the Seventh Cavalry,



